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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK 
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to 
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. 
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and 
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk 
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded 
on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded 
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for 
the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any 
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of 
this report.

This report, for which the director (collectively the “Directors” and  individually a “Director”) of Zhicheng Technology 
Group Ltd. (“the Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in 
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing 
Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable 
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate 
and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission 
of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will be available on the Company’s website www.ztecgroup.com and will remain on the “Latest 
Company Announcements” page on the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at least 7 days from the date of its 
posting.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Zhicheng Technology Group Ltd. (the “Company”, together with 
its subsidiaries, the “Group”), it is my pleasure to present to you the annual report of the Group for the year ended 
31 March 2019.

The Company is the leading smart manufacturing solutions provider focusing on precision 3D testing solutions and 
precision machining solutions in China. The Company provides high level of precision solutions to industries such as 
aviation, aerospace, shipbuilding, ground transportation vehicles and electronics industries. The successful listing of 
the Company’s Shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 20 April 2018 
(the “Listing”) was a significant milestone since the establishment of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, taking the advantage of the opportunity of our successful listing, the Group has 
undertaken more business in precision 3D testing solutions and precision machining solutions comparing with that 
of last year through our efforts to improve the level of operation and management, strengthen the efforts to expand 
the market and increase investment in research and development, and our sales performance has also reached a 
new level. The Groups achieved a revenue of approximately HK$52.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2019, 
representing an increase of 8.2% comparing with that of last year. The profit for the year was approximately HK$7.3 
million, representing an increase of HK$18.5 million as compared to the loss of HK$11.2 million for last year.

The Group holds a positive and optimistic attitude about the prospects of the smart manufacturing solutions industry 
in China. Looking forward, in the new financial year, the Group will continue to actively develop new markets and 
new customers on the basis of strengthening the existing ones through deepening the market, gain more projects 
through construction of sales points to expand sales coverage areas, and maintain a market leading edge through 
participating in seminars and industry exhibitions to understand market development and customer needs. 
Meanwhile, the Group will continue to devote more efforts into research and development, improve existing 
products and technologies, develop advanced new products and technologies, expand the scope of application of 
solutions provided by the Group, and reduce project costs, aiming to maintain its edge in terms of technology.

In addition, the Group will continue to improve the operational efficiency of each business division and actively 
optimize its existing resources so as to enhance the profitability and the core competitiveness of the Group. The 
Group will also actively seek for potential business opportunities to create higher value for shareholders. On behalf 
of the Board and the management, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all staff for their constant efforts 
and my heartfelt gratitude to the shareholders, customers and business partners for their ongoing dedicated 
support.

Mr. Wu Di
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 June 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
The Group is a smart manufacturing solution provider focusing on precision 3D testing solutions and precision 
machining solutions in China. The Company provides smart manufacturing solutions to serve the needs of high-end 
equipment manufacturers which require a high level of precision in the manufacture of their industrial products. Its 
solutions comprise and integrate various equipment and services, ranging from solution concept and design, 
procurement of machinery, auxiliary tools and software and system installation and debugging to provision of 
aftersales services such as technical support and training.

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 20 April 2018, 
which marked a key milestone for the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group continued to strengthen its sales efforts, actively approached new 
customers in various industries and regions, as well as strengthening the relationship with existing customers. 
During the year, the Group has expanded its sales channels and business coverage and enhanced its sales strength 
through establishment of sales branches in Xi’an and Chongqing as well as recruitment of 5 new sales employees. 
Benefited from its sales efforts, the Group obtained a total of 25 new projects, and 17 new projects together with 12 
projects which were carried forward from prior years, were completed during the year. As at 31 March 2019, the 
Group had 8 projects, all of which were new projects obtained during the financial year.

The Company is dedicated to be a pioneer in precision 3D testing and precision machining solution provider, and 
has been aiming at new technology and new product development, as well as continuously undertaking research 
and development activities on technology applications, new auxiliary tools design and relevant software 
applications. For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group had 8 registered patents, including 5 invention patents 
and 3 utility model patents, and 10 invention patent plus 7 utility model patents in the registration process.

The smart manufacturing solution market where the Group partakes in features high technological requirements 
and rapid fresh cycle for technology. To align closely with the latest and forthcoming technology, the Group would 
continuously set up our own research and development team during the year and seek technological cooperation 
with prestigious colleges and universities proactively. On the other hand, the Group held two large-scale product 
application seminars in Zhuhai and Luoyang respectively for its existing and potential clients during the year and 
achieved great success. By virtue of the technological edges of the Group in the industry, the Group will continue to 
promote the integrated smart manufacturing solutions, and understand the industrial evolution and promote the 
Company’s products by organizing seminars and participation in exhibitions.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to actively develop new markets and approach new customers on the 
basis of strengthening the existing ones, gain more projects through setting up of sales points to expand sales 
coverage areas, and maintain a market leading edge through participating in seminars and industry exhibitions to 
understand market development and customer needs. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to devote more efforts 
into research and development, improve existing products and technologies, develop advanced new products and 
technologies, expand the scope of application of solutions provided by the Group, and reduce project costs, aiming 
to maintain its edge in terms of technology.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$52.4 million, representing an 
increase of 8.2% comparing with that of approximately HK$48.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2018. Set out 
below is the revenue breakdown of the Group for the year:

 Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

Revenue
% of

revenue
Gross Profit

Margin Revenue
% of

revenue
Gross Profit

Margin
HK$’000 % % HK$’000 % %

Precision 3D testing 
solutions

Static 3D scanning 45,070 86.0 54.4 29,446 60.8 60.6
Dynamic 3D scanning 4,647 8.9 51.2 18,959 39.2 70
Overall precision 3D testing 

solutions 49,717 94.9 54.1 48,405 100 64.3
Precision machining 

solutions 2,680 5.1 15.9 – – –
       

All solutions 52,397 100 52.0 48,405 100 64.3
       

The increase in revenue was mainly attributable to an increase of HK$1.3 million in sales of precision 3D testing 
solutions and an increase of HK$2.7 million in sales of precision machining solutions.

Precision 3D testing solutions: Revenue from precision 3D testing solutions increased by 2.7% to HK$49.7 million for 
the year ended 31 March 2019 from HK$48.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2018. This increase was mainly 
attributable to increase in the number of precision 3D testing solutions projects undertaken by the Group. For year 
ended March 31 2019, the Group’s revenue was derived from 31 projects, including 14 projects generating service 
income exclusively, and these service projects had a relatively lower return. For the year ended March 31 2018, the 
Group had carried out 18 precision 3D testing solutions projects, including 5 projects generating service income 
exclusively. Therefore, the growth of revenue is not comparative with the increase of projects.

Precision machining solutions: For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company has carried out 3 precision 
machining solutions projects and recorded a revenue of HK$2.7 million. For the year ended 31 March 2018, no 
revenue was derived from precision machining solution since the Company has been focusing on providing 
precision 3D testing solution and did not carry out any precision machining solutions projects.

Cost of sales
Cost of sales increased by 45.3% to HK$25.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 from HK$17.3 million for the 
year ended 31 March 2018, the increase in cost of sales was mainly due to an increase in the number of precision 
3D testing solutions and precision machining solutions undertaken by the Group comparing with that of last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross profit and gross profit margin
Gross profit decreased by 12.4% to HK$27.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 from HK$31.1 million for the 
year ended 31 March 2018. Its gross profit margin decreased to 52.0% for the year ended 31 March 2019 from 64.3% 
for the year ended 31 March 2018, which was primarily due to (i) part of precision 3D testing solutions projects 
carried out during this year were focused on providing indigenous modules and the gross profit margins were 
relatively low; and (ii) 3 precision machining solutions with relatively low gross profit margin were also carried out 
during this year, the projects carried out for the year ended 31 March 2018 were precision 3D testing solutions 
projects focusing on providing imported modules which have relatively higher gross profit margin.

Selling and marketing expenses
Selling and marketing expenses increased by 143.1% to HK$4.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 from 
HK$1.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2018. This increase was mainly attributable to an increase of HK$0.7 
million in staff cost mainly due to the expansion of selling and marketing team, and HK$1.2 million in travelling 
expenses as the Company has enhanced its marketing efforts.

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses decreased by 62.8% to HK$13.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 from HK$37.1 
million for the year ended 31 March 2018. The decrease was mainly due to the absence of listing expenses of 
HK$26.1 million, which was offset by an increase of HK$2.8 million in expenses arising from operation expansion.

Income tax expense
The Company had an income tax expense of HK$2.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 mainly for the income 
of the subsidiaries derived from the PRC (2018: HK$3.8 million).

The Group had recorded a profit before income tax of approximately HK$9.4 million for the year ended 31 March 
2019, and effective income tax rate of 22.0%.

Profit for the year
The Company recorded a profit of HK$7.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 compared to a loss of HK$11.2 
million for the year ended 31 March 2018. The net profit margin for the year ended 31 March 2019 was 14.0% and 
the net loss margin for the year ended 31 March 2018 was 23.2%.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The net cash used in operating activities was approximately HK$24.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. 
During the year, the Group aimed to manage its working capital with operating profits and by matching the receipt 
of payment from its customers and payment to its suppliers.

As at 31 March 2019, the net current assets of the Group were approximately HK$61.3 million (31 March 2018: net 
current assets of HK$4.3 million). The increase was primarily attributable to the increase in trade receivables of 
HK$8.7 million and in cash and cash equivalents of HK$8.4 million, besides the decrease in other payables of 
HK$27.9 million mainly due to the settlement for unpaid listing expenses and amounts due to a related party of 
HK$10.2 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 March 2019, the cash and cash equivalents of the Group was approximately HK$10.0 million (2018: 
approximately HK$1.5 million).

As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any bank borrowings and other interest-bearing borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any capital commitments.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any pledge on its assets.

EXCHANGE RATE RISK EXPOSURE
For the operating entities of the Company that are incorporated in Hong Kong and the British Virgin Islands, their 
functional currencies are United States dollars (“US$”). As certain trade and other receivables, bank balances, trade 
and other payables of overseas entities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) or Euro (“EUR”), currencies 
other than the functional currencies of the entities may cause the foreign exchange risk. Under the Linked Exchange 
Rate System in Hong Kong, HK$ is pegged to US$, the Board considers that there is no significant foreign exchange 
risk with respect to HK$. Therefore, the foreign exchange risk mainly arises from the monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in EUR, which the Board considers as not significant to the Group. The Group has not entered into 
forward exchange contract to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD
As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not hold any significant investments.

Other financial assets
As at 31 March 2019, other financial assets held by the Group comprise:

— Trade receivables of HK$39.8 million;

— Cash and bank deposits of HK$10.0 million; and

— Other receivables of HK$1.6 million.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS
Except for the investment regarding research and development centres as disclosed in the section headed “Future 
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 29 March 2018 (the “Prospectus”), as at 31 
March 2019, the Group did not have any plans for material investments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 
AFFILIATED COMPANIES
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries 
and affiliated companies.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The principal business of the Group is to provide smart manufacturing solutions to its customers on a project basis. 
As the Company do not have any long term contractual arrangements with its customers, there is no assurance that 
the Company will continue to secure new contracts or maintain or increase its current level of business activities 
with existing or future customers in the future. Therefore, the Group is increasing its sales and marketing efforts, 
expanding its sales force, sales points and sales coverage, aiming to continuously get new tenders and secure 
contracts from more customers.

The Group’s major customers are high-end equipment manufacturers in the aviation, aerospace, shipbuilding, 
ground transportation vehicles and electronics industries. The market for smart manufacturing solutions is 
characterised by rapidly changing technologies and evolving developments. The success of its business is 
dependent upon its ability to continuously develop, in a timely manner, new technological applications through 
research and development and introduce new solution designs to cater its customers’ requirements. Therefore, the 
Group intends to increase its research and development efforts, establish its own research and development 
centres, recruit more technical staff, so as to hold its edges in terms of technology.

Other risks are as following:

Credit risk
Credit risk mainly arises from cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade receivables and other receivables. 
The carrying amount of these balances in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets. The Group has a credit policy in place and the 
exposure to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest-bearing assets are mainly cash and cash equivalents. The directors consider the interest with 
respect to cash and cash equivalents to be insignificant to the Group.

Liquidity risk
To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 
adequate by the management to finance the operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The 
Group expects to fund its future cash flow needs through internally generated cash flows from operation and 
borrowings from financial institutions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Use Of Proceeds
The Shares were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 20 April 2018 (the “Listing”), and all of the funds raised 
from the initial public offering have been received within the year ended 31 March 2019. The Company intended to 
apply the net proceeds in the manner as described in the section headed “Use of Proceeds” of the annual report of 
the Company dated 27 June 2018 (“2018 Annual Report”). As at 31 March 2019, all of the unutilised net proceeds 
have been deposited into bank accounts under the name of the Group.

Set out below is the use of the net proceeds for the year ended 31 March 2019:

Use of proceeds

Amount of
planned use

according
to the

2018 annual
Report

Amount used
up to

31 March
2019

Remaining
balance

Expected
time of full
utilization
of the
remaining
balance

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

Establishing our own research and development 
centres and further research and development 
expenditures relating to product research and 
development, recruitment and provision of 
training for technical staff 11.9 6.8 5.1 March 2020

Business expansion, including establishment of 
sales branches in different regions in China, 
expansion of office premises, recruitment of 
management and local salesforces for various 
branches and provision of relevant internal and 
external training 6.8 3.1 3.7 March 2020

Organising seminars, participating in local and 
international exhibitions and developing and 
implementing advertising plans 3.8 1.8 2.0 March 2020

Working capital and general corporate purposes 2.5 1.2 1.3 March 2020
     

25 12.9 12.1
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wu Di (吳鏑), aged 41, is the Chairman, an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company. He 
was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2017 and as the Chairman and an executive Director with effect from 26 
September 2017. Mr. Wu is primarily responsible for overall management, corporate policy making and strategic 
planning of the Group’s business operations.

Mr. Wu is the founder of the Group and established the Group in 2008. Mr. Wu has more than 15 years of 
professional experience in the area of smart manufacturing, machining and industrial design. Prior to establishing 
the Group, from June 2003 to June 2006, he worked as the general manager of Prosperity Corporation Limited, a 
distributor for various electronic accessories such as integrated circuits, capacitors and sensors, responsible for 
strategic development and business planning in the North America and China market. He was also engaged in the 
supplier management and the customer relationship management for the company. From June 2006 to April 2008, 
he worked as a project manager in Ignite USA LLC, a company engaged in the design and technical innovation of 
reusable, environmentally friendly thermal mugs and hydration bottles, responsible for inspecting new product 
development process, supplier management, cost and credit control and supply chain management.

Mr. Wu graduated from the Beijing University of Chemical Technology with a bachelor’s degree in management 
engineering in July 2000 and obtained a master degree in business administration from Loyola University, Chicago in 
November 2005. Mr. Wu is the son-in-law of Prof. Yang Zhuoru, a member of its senior management.

Ms. Liu Zhining (劉智寧), aged 48, is an executive Director and chief operating officer of the Group. Ms. Liu joined 
the Group in December 2008 and was appointed as an executive Director on 26 September 2017. Ms. Liu is primarily 
responsible for the overall management and supervision of operations of the Group.

Ms. Liu has more than 16 years of sales and management experience. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Liu worked as 
an assistant general manager at Guangzhou Xinli Technology Development Company Limited from November 1998 
to October 2000. From March 2003 to February 2004, she worked as the business manager at Guangzhou Dongya 
Company Limited and was responsible for the administration and business management. From March 2004 to April 
2007, she was the assistant to the general manager at Guangdong Wanshunda Machinery Company Limited, 
responsible for the overall management of business operations and human resources.

Ms. Liu obtained a bachelor’s degree in international commerce from Guangdong University of Foreign Studies 
(formerly known as Guangzhou Institute of Foreign Trade) in July 1993.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Tang Yong (湯勇), aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 26 March 2018.

Mr. Tang has more than 11 years of experience in the area of machinery manufacturing. He joined the South China 
University of Technology and acted as lecturer from September 1994 to September 1998 at the School of Machinery 
and Automotive Engineering of South China University of Technology and as associate professor from October 1998 
to September 2003. Since January 2013, he serves as the Deputy Dean of the School of Machinery and Automotive 
Engineering of South China University of Technology. He was appointed as the supervisor of the Guangdong 
Provincial Energy — saving and New Energy Green Manufacturing Engineering Technology Research Centre in 
September 2015. Mr. Tang served as an independent director of Guangdong Jingyi Metal Company Limited (廣東精
藝金屬股份有限公司), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002295) from January 2011 to 
January 2017.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tang obtained a doctoral degree in machinery manufacturing from the South China University of Technology in 
July 1994.

Mr. Xing Shaonan (邢少南), aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 26 March 2018. 
In January 2018, he was appointed as a committee member of the Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese 
People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. Xing has more than 16 years of experience in the finance industry. Since 2001, Mr. Xing has been working at 
Offshore Capital Investment (Holdings) Limited (海外資本投資（控股）有限公司) as chief executive officer and 
executive director. From June 1999 to June 2002, Mr. Xing served as the secretary to the office of the chief executive 
officer of Asia Television Limited, one of the two wireless commercial television stations in Hong Kong at the 
relevant time.

Mr. Xing obtained a master degree of business administration from Murdoch University in Perth, Western Australia 
in March 1998.

Mr. Tan Michael Zhen Shan (譚鎮山), aged 42, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 26 
March 2018.

Mr. Tan has more than 11 years of experience in accounting and taxation. Since May 2004, Mr. Tan is the financial 
controller of Full Apex (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (stock 
code: BTY) and is responsible for overseeing financial and accounting matters. He worked as an accountant at the 
Guangzhou office of an accounting firm in Hong Kong and was responsible for auditing and financial due diligence 
review works from August 1998 to June 2001. From August 2001 to May 2003, Mr. Tan served as an accountant at 
an accounting firm in Australia and was responsible for taxation, financial accounting and auditing works.

Mr. Tan obtained a bachelor’s degree in international accounting from Sun Yat-Sen University in 1998 and a master 
degree of commerce (accounting with commercial law) from University of Sydney in December 2001. He is a 
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accounts and a member of the Australian Society of Certified 
Practicing Accountant.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Prof. Yang Zhuoru (楊卓如), aged 72, is the technical director of the Group. Prof. Yang joined the Group in July 
2013. He is primarily responsible for leading the overall management of research and development activities of the 
Group.

Prof. Yang has approximately 41 years of experience in technology research and development in the area of 
engineering. Prior to joining the Group, Prof. Yang started his teaching and research career at the South China 
University of Technology in October 1976 and was appointed as professor in September 1997 until he retired in 
October 2012. Since 1976, he held various teaching and research positions and had a focus in chemical engineering. 
He had participated in various research and invention projects and had received awards granted by the State 
Scientific and Technological Commission of the PRC, Ministry of Chemical Industry of the PRC and the People’s 
Government of Guangdong Province in recognition of his research achievements. He also obtained an award 
granted by the PRC State Council for his contribution to the higher education of PRC in March 1996. He was named 
as the “Guangdong Province Excellent Young and Middle-aged Expert” by the People’s Government of Guangdong 
Province in June 1996.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Prof. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in process and equipment of machinery manufacturing from the Huazhong 
University of Science and Technology (formerly known as Huazhong Engineering Institute) in September 1976. Prof. 
Yang is the father-in-law of Mr. Wu Di, an executive Director of the Group.

Mr. Xu Wenming (許文明), aged 35, is the sales and marketing director of the Group. Mr. Xu joined the Group in 
December 2010 and had been the head of sales and marketing from December 2010 to December 2014 and was 
appointed as the deputy general manager of Quick Tech in January 2015. He is primarily responsible for the overall 
management of sales and marketing activities and technical support of the Group. Under his leadership, he 
extended the market reach of the Group and established five new sales and marketing presence in China since 
2010.

Mr. Xu has approximately 11 years of sales and marketing experience. Prior to joining the Group, from April 2008 to 
March 2010, he started his own trading business and was engaged in the sales of lighting solutions.

Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor’s degree majoring in automation from Jiamusi University in 2006.

Mr. Zou Cuimin (鄒璀瑉), aged 40, is the financial director of the Group. Mr. Zou joined the Group in July 2016. He 
is primarily responsible for the overall management of financial and accounting affairs of the Group. Mr. Zou has 
approximately 14 years of experience in accounting and related financial management. Prior to joining the Group, 
from September 2008 to September 2011, he worked as the regional financial manager at Guangzhou Barloworld 
Logistics Company Limited, a logistics company. From October 2011 to September 2015, he worked as the financial 
controller of Zhujiang College of South China Agricultural University. From September 2015 to May 2016, he was the 
financial controller of Guizhou Honghua Convenience Shopping Chain Company Limited, a company engaging in the 
operation of convenience stores in the PRC, and was responsible for overall financial management of the company.

Mr. Zou obtained a bachelor’s degree in management in June 2001 and a master’s degree in management in 2004 
from the Sun Yat-sen University. Mr. Zou is a certified public accountant in the PRC and is a fellow member 
(nonpractising) of the Guangdong Provincial Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Ms. Liu Zhining has been appointed as the compliance officer on 26 September 2017. For her biographical 
information, please refer to the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” above in this section.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Wong Sau Ping (黃秀萍), was appointed as the company secretary of the Group on 26 September 2017. Ms. 
Wong works as an associate director of the listing services department of TMF Hong Kong Limited (a global 
corporate service provider). Ms. Wong has over 18 years of professional experience in the company secretarial field. 
She obtained a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration and a master’s degree of arts in Professional 
Accounting and Information Systems. Ms. Wong is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in United Kingdom.
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The Company is committed to promoting high standards of corporate governance through its continuous effort in 
improving its corporate governance practices and process. The Board believes that sound and reasonable corporate 
governance practices are essential for sustainable growth of the Group and for safeguarding the interests and the 
Group’s assets.

The corporate governance practices of the Group are based on the principles and the code provisions in the 
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 
on GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange.

There was a deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the Code which stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief 
executive should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual. The Company considers that 
having Mr. Wu Di acting as both its chairman of the Board and its chief executive officer will provide a strong and 
consistent leadership to the Group and allow for more effective planning and management for the Group. In view of 
Mr. Wu Di’s extensive experience in the industry, personal profile and critical role in the Group and its historical 
development, the Company considers that it is beneficial to the business prospects of the Group that Mr. Wu Di 
continues to act as both its chairman and its chief executive officer.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of the Code as set out in 
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules for the period from the date of Listing to 31 March 2019.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND RETIREMENT OF THE DIRECTORS
In accordance with article 108 of the articles of association (the “Articles”) of the Company, at each annual general 
meeting (the “AGM”), one third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation. However, if the 
number of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one third shall be the 
number of retiring Directors.

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles, any Director so appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy of the 
Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to 
re-election at such meeting. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall not be taken into account in determining 
the Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at the AGM.

Each of the Directors has been appointed for an initial term of three years on 26 March 2018 until terminated by 
either party giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other. Pursuant to the Articles, Ms. Liu Zhining 
and Mr. Tang Yong will retire from office as Directors at the forthcoming AGM, and being eligible, will offer 
themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not 
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory 
compensation.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIRED STANDARD OF DEALINGS IN 
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Group has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the 
“Standard of Dealings”), as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made 
specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of the Directors, except for Mr. Wu Di, has confirmed that he or she has 
complied with the required Standard of Dealings for the period from the date of Listing (i.e. 20 April 2018) to 31 
March 2019.

Since the date of Listing and up to the date of this announcement, Mr. Wu, the chairman of the Board and the sole 
director of IFG Swans Holding Ltd. (“IFG Swans”), a controlling shareholder of the Company, had one non-compliant 
incident in relation to the entering of a placing agreement by IFG Swans. Mr. Wu had overlooked the required 
notification procedures as required under Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules and entered into a placing 
agreement concerning the placing of certain shares held by IFG Swans. Upon realising such non-compliance, Mr. 
Wu had promptly taken initiative and action to terminate the relevant placing agreement. Please refer to the 
clarification announcement published by the Company on 31 May 2019 for the chronology of events of such non-
compliant incident. As the placing agreement was subsequently terminated, no shares of the Company have ever 
been placed to any placee and no shareholders’ interest was undermined or affected by the attempted placing.

DIRECTORS
During the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this report, the Directors are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wu Di (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Ms. Liu Zhining (chief operating officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tang Yong
Mr. Xing Shaonan
Mr. Tan Michael Zhen Shan

The brief biographic details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” 
on pages 12 to 14 of this annual report.

The Company had complied with the requirements under Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules 
for the period from the date of Listing to 31 March 2019. The Company considers all independent non-executive 
Directors meet the guidelines for assessment of their independence as set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD
The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the Company. The Board’s primary duty is to 
ensure the viability of the Company and to ensure that it is managed in the best interests of the shareholders as a 
whole while taking into account the interests of other stakeholders. The management is delegated with the authority 
and responsibility by the Board for the management and administration of the Group. The Group has adopted 
internal guidelines in setting forth matters that require the Board’s approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, 
the Board approves the Group’s strategic plan, key operational initiatives, major investments and funding decisions. 
It also reviews the Group’s financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business and ensures 
implementation of appropriate systems to manage these risks. Daily business operations and administrative 
functions of the Group are delegated to the management.

The Board is also delegated with the corporate governance functions under code provision D.3.1 of the Code. The 
Board has reviewed and discussed the corporate governance policy of the Group and is satisfied with the 
effectiveness of the corporate governance policy.

BOARD MEETINGS AND PROCEDURES
Board members will be provided with complete, adequate and timely information to allow them to fulfill their duties 
properly. In compliance with code provision A.1.3 of the Code, at least 14 days’ notice will be given for a regular 
Board meeting to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. Notice, agenda and board papers of regular Board 
meetings are sent to all Directors within reasonable time and at least 3 days prior to the meetings. Directors are free 
to contribute and share their views at meetings and major decisions will only be taken after deliberation at Board 
meetings. Directors who are considered having conflict of interests or material interests in the proposed 
transactions or issues to be discussed will not be counted in the quorum of meeting and will abstain from voting on 
the relevant resolutions. Full minutes are prepared after the meetings and the draft minutes are sent to all Directors 
for their comments before the final version of which are endorsed in the subsequent Board meeting.

Details of the attendance of the Board meetings, audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) meetings, remuneration 
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) meetings, nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) 
meetings and general meetings of the Company held during the period from the date of Listing on 20 April 2018 to 
31 March 2019 are summarised as follows:

Board 
meeting

Audit 
Committee 

meeting

Remuneration 
Committee 

meeting

Nomination 
Committee 

meeting
General 
meeting

Executive Directors
Mr. Wu Di 5/5 N/A N/A 1/1 1/1
Ms. Liu Zhining 5/5 N/A 1/1 N/A 1/1

Independent non-executive 
Directors

Mr. Tang Yong 5/5 4/4 1/1 1/1 0/1
Mr. Xing Shaonan 5/5 4/4 1/1 N/A 1/1
Mr. Tan Michael Zhen Shan 5/5 4/4 N/A 1/1 0/1
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established specific committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The Board committees are provided 
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee are posted on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established an Audit Committee on 26 March 2018 in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The 
Company has adopted written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.28 and code provision C.3.3 of the Code 
as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to make 
recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal of external auditor; monitor the integrity of the 
financial statements, annual reports and interim reports and review significant financial reporting judgements 
contained therein; and oversee financial reporting system, risk management and internal control procedures.

The Audit Committee consists of three members who are Mr. Xing Shaonan (the Chairman), Mr. Tang Yong and Mr. 
Tan Michael Zhen Shan (independent non-executive Directors).

The Audit Committee held 4 meetings for the period from the date of Listing on 20 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 
Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee meeting are set out above.

At the meeting, the Audit Committee reviewed risk management and internal control systems of the Group and 
made recommendations to the Board accordingly.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 26 March 2018 in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. 
The Company has adopted written terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the Code as set 
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to make 
recommendation to its Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior 
management of the Group; review remuneration proposals of the management with reference to the Board’s 
corporate goals and objectives; and ensure none of its Directors or any of their associates determine their own 
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members who are Mr. Tang Yong (an independent non-executive 
Director and Chairman), Mr. Xing Shaonan (an independent non-executive Director) and Ms. Liu Zhining (an 
executive Director). The majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive 
Directors. The remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference to, among other things, their duties, 
responsibilities and performance. The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board on 
remuneration packages of individual Directors and the members of senior management.

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting for the period from the date of Listing on 20 April 2018 to 31 March 
2019. Details of the attendance of the Remuneration Committee meeting are set out above.

At the meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration packages and performance of the 
Directors and the senior management and remuneration policy of the Directors and made recommendations to the 
Board accordingly.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Company established a Nomination Committee on 26 March 2018. The Company has adopted written terms of 
reference in compliance with code provision A.5.2 of the Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. 
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee is to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the 
Board and make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships, 
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

The Nomination Committee consists of three members who are Mr. Wu Di (an executive Director and Chairman), 
Mr. Tang Yong and Mr. Tan Michael Zhen Shan (independent non-executive Directors). The majority of the members 
of the Nomination Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting for the period from the date of Listing on 20 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 
Details of the attendance of the Nomination Committee meeting are set out above.

At the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed the 
independence of the independent non-executive Directors, formulated the board diversity policy and made 
recommendations to the Board accordingly.

Nomination policy
The Board of the Company adopted the nomination policy on 25 December 2018 as follows:

1. Goal
1.1 The Nomination Committee of the Company (the “Committee”) shall nominate suitable candidates to the 

board of director (collectively the “Directors” and individually a “Director”) of the Company (the “Board”) 
for it to consider and make recommendations to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) 
for election as Directors at general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

1.2 The Committee may nominate suitable number of candidates that it considers to be appropriate for 
election as Directors at general meetings or nominate the number of candidates who are required to fill 
casual vacancies.

2. Selection criteria
2.1 In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the Committee would consider the following factors:

(a) reputation for integrity;

(b) experience in business strategy, management, legal and financial aspects;

(c) whether the proposed candidate is able to assist the Board in effective performance of its 
responsibilities;

(d) the perspectives and skills that the proposed candidate is expected to bring to the Board;
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(e) commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

(f) diversity in all aspects of the Board, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural background, 
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of 
service; and

(g) in the case of selection for independent non-executive Directors, the independence of the 
proposed candidate.

The above factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Committee 
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

2.2 The proposed candidate shall submit the required personal data in the agreed format and his/her written 
consent to be appointed as a Director and agree to the public disclosure of his/her personal data on any 
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to his/her appointment as a 
Director.

2.3 The Committee may request the proposed candidate to provide additional information and documents, 
if considered necessary.

3. Nomination procedure
3.1 The secretary of the Committee (the “Secretary of the Committee”) shall call a meeting of the 

Committee, and invite nominations of candidates from Board members, if any, for consideration by the 
Committee prior to its meeting. Alternatively, the Committee may approve the nomination by a written 
resolution.

3.2 For filling a casual vacancy on the Board, the Committee shall recommend candidates for the Board’s 
consideration and approval. For a proposed candidate to stand for election at a general meeting, the 
Committee shall make a nomination to the Board for its consideration and recommendation of the 
proposed candidate to stand for election.

3.3 Until the issue of the circular to Shareholders, the proposed candidates shall not assume that they have 
been proposed by the Board to stand for election at the general meeting.

3.4 According to the articles of association of the Company, and without violating its provisions, any one or 
more shareholders may send a notice indicating that they intend to put forward a proposal on 
recommendation of selecting someone as a Director without having to be recommended by the Board 
or nominated by the Committee.

3.5 The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates to 
stand for election at any general meeting.
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4. Confidentiality
Unless required by law or any regulatory authority, under no circumstances shall a member of the Committee 
or a staff member of the Company disclose any information to or entertain any enquiries from the public with 
regard to any nomination or candidature before the circular to Shareholders, as the case may be, is issued. 
Following the issue of the circular by the Company, the Committee, the company secretary of the Company or 
other staff member of the Company approved by the Committee may answer enquiries from the regulatory 
authorities or the public but confidential information regarding nominations and candidates should not be 
disclosed.

COMPLIANCE ADVISER
The Company has appointed RaffAello Capital Limited as the Company’s compliance adviser pursuant to Rule 6A.19 
of the GEM Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 6A.23 of the GEM Listing Rules, the compliance adviser will advise the 
Company in the following circumstances:

(a) before the publication of any regulatory announcement, circular or financial report;

(b) where a transaction, which might be a notifiable or connected transaction, is contemplated including share 
issues and share repurchases;

(c) where the Company proposes to use the proceeds of the Share Offer in a manner different from that detailed 
in the Prospectus or where the business activities, developments or results deviate from any forecast, 
estimate, or other information in the Prospectus; and

(d) where the Stock Exchange makes any inquiry of the Company regarding unusual movements in the price or 
trading volume of the Shares.

The term of the appointment commenced on 20 April 2018 and end on the date on which the Company distributes 
its annual report in respect of the financial results for the second full financial year commencing after 20 April 2018 
and such appointment may be subject to extension by mutual agreement.

DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD
The Group has adopted policy in relation to the diversity of the members of the Board and the summary of the policy 
is as follows:

(1) selection of Board members will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, which would include but not 
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and 
length of service; and

(2) the Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board diversity policy from time to time to 
ensure the effectiveness of the Board diversity policy.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
All independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a fixed term. Pursuant to the letters of 
appointment between the Company and the independent non-executive Directors of the Group, the independent 
non-executive Directors have been appointed for a term of three years on 26 March 2018 which may be terminated 
by either party by giving three months’ written notice. Every Director is subject to re-election on retirement by 
rotation in accordance with the Articles.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Each newly appointed Director will receive a formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of 
his appointment to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations and business and is 
fully aware of the Director’s responsibilities under the statutes and common law, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and 
other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies. Pursuant to the code provision 
A.6.5 of the Code, the Directors had attended training sessions in relation to professional development during the 
year ended 31 March 2019.

The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors to refresh their duties and responsibilities. All 
Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense and they have been 
requested to provide the Company with their training records. According to the training records maintained by the 
Company, the trainings received by each of the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2019 are summarised as 
follows:

Name of Directors Type of trainings

Mr. Wu Di A, B
Ms. Liu Zhining A, B
Mr. Tang Yong A, B
Mr. Xing Shaonan A, B
Mr. Tan Michael Zhen Shan A, B

A: attending seminars/conferences/forums/training sessions

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, general business, corporate governance and Directors’ duties and 

responsibilities

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Wong Sau Ping, an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in United Kingdom, was appointed as the company secretary of the 
Company since 26 September 2017. Ms. Wong works as an associate director of the listing services department of 
TMF Hong Kong Limited (a global corporate services provider). Ms. Liu Zhining, an executive Director and compliance 
officer of the Company, is the primary contact person who Ms. Wong contacts.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary. The company secretary reports to 
the Chairman on Board governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed, 
and for facilitating communications among Directors as well as with shareholders of the Company and 
management. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the company secretary had taken no less than 15 hours of 
relevant professional training.
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COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Ms. Liu Zhining has been appointed as the compliance officer of the Company on 26 September 2017. For her 
biographical details, please refer to the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION
The senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2019 falls within the 
following bands:

Number of individuals

HK$1,000,000 or below 3

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for each 
financial period to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows for 
that period in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The statement by the auditor 
of the Company about its responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the independent auditor’s report 
contained in the annual report. The Directors adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements and are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The Company engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers as its auditor for the year ended 31 March 2019. There was no 
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal 
of the auditor. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers in respect of its 
audit services provided to the Group were HK$1.0 million.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Directors confirmed that during the ordinary course of the Company’s business, the Company are exposed to 
various types of risks, including (i) control risks relating to the Company’s overall monitoring system; (ii) regulatory 
risks in relation to the Company’s business; (iii) operational risk; and (iv) credit risks relating to assets.

The Company has designed and implemented risk management policies to address these potential risks identified in 
relation to its business. The risk management system of the Company sets out procedures to identify, analyse, 
assess, mitigate and monitor any potential risks. Its chief executive officer is responsible for overseeing the overall 
risk management system of the Company and each department carries out their own risk management 
identification exercise and proposes risk response plan according to the Company’s overall risk assessment 
program. Each department is required to set up appropriate risk management strategies based on the risk identified 
and their proposed risk response plan and is responsible for the implementation and supervision. For material 
deficiency or risks identified, the relevant departments should report the situation to the Board for further 
investigation, internal control, review, enhancement and supervision.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group had not experienced any non-compliance incidents that had or would 
reasonably be expected to have a material financial or operational impact on its business or would negatively affect 
the Directors’ or senior management’s ability or tendency to operate in a compliant matter.

The Directors are responsible for establishing the Company’s internal control system and reviewing its effectiveness 
on an annual basis. In accordance with the applicable laws and regulations, the Company has established 
procedures for developing and maintaining its internal control system, covering areas such as corporate 
governance, operations, management, legal, finance and audit. The Company believes that its internal control 
system is sufficient in terms of comprehensiveness, practicability and effectiveness for its current business 
operation. To strengthen its internal control and ensure future compliance with the applicable laws and regulations 
(including the GEM Listing Rules), the Company has adopted the following additional internal control measures:

(1) the Directors will continuously monitor, evaluate and review the internal control system of the Company to 
ensure compliance with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements and will adjust, refine and enhance 
its internal control system as appropriate;

(2) the Company has appointed RaffAello Capital Limited as the compliance adviser of the Company to advise the 
Group on matters relating to compliance with the GEM Listing Rules;

(3) the Company will provide training and updates on the legal and regulatory requirements applicable to its 
business operations to Directors, members of senior management and relevant employees of the Company 
from time to time;

(4) if necessary, the Company may consider appointing external PRC legal advisers to advise the Company on 
matters relating to compliance with the applicable PRC laws and regulations; and

(5) if necessary, the Company may consider appointing external Hong Kong legal advisers to advise the Company 
on matters relating to compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and the applicable Hong Kong laws and 
regulations.

The Company has also adopted relevant procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of 
inside information to ensure inside information remains confidential until the disclosure of such information is 
appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and consistently made.

In light of the foregoing and based on the findings and recommendations of the work performed by the internal 
control consultant, the Directors reviewed the Group’s risk management and internal control systems during the 
year ended 31 March 2019 and are of the view that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are 
adequate and effective.



ZHICHENG TECHNOLOGY GROUP LTD. • ANNUAL REPORT 2019

25

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL 
MEETING
Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the requisition of one or 
more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of 
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board 
or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be 
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held 
within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to 
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
In order to keep shareholders well informed of the business activities and direction of the Group, information about 
the Group has been provided to the shareholders through financial reports and announcements. The Company has 
established its own corporate website (www.ztecgroup.com) as a channel to facilitate effective communication with 
its shareholders and the public. The Company will continue to enhance communications and relationships with its 
shareholders and investors. A shareholders’ communication policy was adopted on 20 April 2018 to comply with 
code provision E.1.4 of the Code.

Shareholders, investors and interested parties can make enquiries directly to the Company through the following 
e-mail: info@ztecgroup.com.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing. Contact details are as 
follows:

Zhicheng Technology Group Ltd.
Address: 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
E-mail: info@ztecgroup.com

Shareholders’ enquiries and concerns will be forwarded to the Board and/or relevant committees of the Board, 
where appropriate, to answer the shareholders’ questions.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL 
MEETINGS BY SHAREHOLDERS
Pursuant to article 113 of the Articles, no person (other than a retiring Director) shall, unless recommended by the 
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting unless a notice in writing 
of the intention to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his 
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the office of the branch share registrar of 
the Company in Hong Kong no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed 
for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum length of 
the period during which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least 7 days. The procedures for 
shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director is posted on the website of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
For the purpose of the Listing, the memorandum of association and the Articles were amended and conditionally 
adopted on 26 March 2018 with effect from 20 April 2018. Save as disclosed above, there had been no significant 
changes in the constitutional documents of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Company presents herewith this report of the Directors together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.

GROUP REORGANISATION
The Company was incorporated as an exempted company under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability 
on 23 June 2017. Through a group reorganisation as disclosed in the section headed “History, Reorganisation and 
Corporate Structure” in the Prospectus, the Company became the holding company of the subsidiaries. The Shares 
of the Company were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange on 20 April 2018 (the “Listing Date”) through placing and 
public offer of a total of 100,000,000 shares at the price of HK$0.65 per share (the “Share Offer”).

SHARE STRUCTURE
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company on 23 June 2017 with limited 
liability as a holding company of the Group. Prior to the Listing, the authorised share capital of the Company was 
increased to US$500,000 divided into 5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of par value of US$0.0001 each. As at 31 March 
2019, the Company has 400,000,000 Shares in issue.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is a smart manufacturing solution provider focusing on 
precision 3D testing solutions and precision machining solutions in China.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
The business review and future business development of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out in 
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

Risks and uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group have been addressed in the section headed “Management 
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 11 of this annual report. In addition, various financial risks have been 
disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis using financial key performance indicators
An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 March 2019 using financial performance indicators 
is provided in the section headed “Financial Summary” on page 90 of this annual report.

Environmental protection
The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment from its business activities. The Group has 
endeavoured to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and encourages 
environmental protection and promotes awareness towards environmental protections among its staff and 
employees.

Compliance with laws and regulations
The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory requirements and risks of non-compliance with 
such requirements. The Group has on-going review the newly enacted laws and regulations affecting the operations 
of the Group. The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the laws and regulations that have 
significant impact on the business of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The Company maintained good relationships with its employees and the Company had not experienced any 
significant disputes with its employees nor had there been any material and adverse disruptions to its business 
operations as a result of strikes, claims, litigation or other labour disputes.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, there was no dispute on salary payments and all accrued remunerations 
were settled on or before their respective due dates, as stipulated under the individual employee’s employment 
contract. The Group also ensures that all the employees are reasonably remunerated by regular review of the 
policies on salary increment, promotion, bonus, allowances and all other related benefits.

The Company maintained good relationships with its customers. The Company believe that delivering quality 
solutions to its end customers is important to its reputation and to its customer relationships. The Company have 
implemented stringent quality control measures in every major stage of the project in order to provide high quality 
smart manufacturing solutions.

The Group also maintained good relationships with its suppliers. During the year ended 31 March 2019, no complaint 
was received from the suppliers, there were no disputed debts or unsettled debts and all the debts were settled on 
or before due dates or a later date as mutually agreed.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company did not have any material return to its suppliers or any material 
return from its customers. In view of the above and as at 31 March 2019, there was no circumstance or any event 
which would have a significant impact on the Group’s business.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES
The Group had 29 employees (including executive Directors) as at 31 March 2019 (2018: 20 employees). The 
Company relies on its employees to provide smart manufacturing solutions to its customers. In order to recruit, 
develop and retain talented employees, the Group offers competitive remuneration packages to its staff, including 
internal promotion opportunities and performance based bonus. For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company 
has long term employment contracts with all of its senior management for four years or more as personnel 
especially management and skilled employees are one of its greatest assets and stability of such personnel are 
crucial to its business operations. The Company generally has a fixed term employment contract with its employees 
such as administrative and finance staff and the Company generally renews the employment contract with such 
employees on a yearly basis. For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company has also entered into a confidentiality 
and non-competition agreement with all of its employees which sets out the confidentiality clause and 
noncompetition clause during and after the employment. In addition, all intellectual properties or technical 
achievement obtained during employment and after a year upon leaving are owned by the Company.

The Group also reviews the performance of the Group’s staff periodically and consider the result of such review for 
staff’s annual bonus, salary review and promotion appraisal. The Company has also adopted a share option scheme, 
details of which are set out on pages 35 to 37 of this annual report and the section headed “Statutory and General 
Information — 13. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

The Company provides induction training and on-going training to its employees in order to enhance their technical 
skills and product understanding.
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The Remuneration Committee shall make recommendation to its Board on the overall remuneration policy and 
structure relating to all Directors and senior management; review remuneration proposals of the management with 
reference to its Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and ensure none of its Directors or any of their associates 
determine their own remuneration.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The financial results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the financial positions of the Company and 
the Group as at 31 March 2019 are set forth in the audited consolidated financial statements on page 44 to 89 of this 
annual report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last four financial years is set out 
on page 90 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements 
in this annual report.

RESERVES
Movements in reserves of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in the consolidated 
statements of changes in equity on page 47 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Pursuant to applicable statutory provisions of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s reserves available for distribution 
to the shareholders of the Company as at 31 March 2019 amounted to HKD 42,515,000.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in the 
paragraph headed “Share Structure” above and note 18 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual 
report.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wu Di (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Ms. Liu Zhining (Chief operating officer)
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Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tang Yong
Mr. Xing Shaonan
Mr. Tan Michael Zhen Shan

In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being shall 
retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest 
to but not less than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The Directors to retire in each year shall be 
those who have been in office longest since their last re-election or appointment but, as between persons who 
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among 
themselves) be determined by lot.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with its Company for a term of three years 
commencing from the Listing Date until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either 
party on the other, but subject to the termination provisions set out in the service contract.

Pursuant to the letters of appointment between the Company and the independent non-executive Directors, each of 
the independent non-executive Directors has been appointed for an initial term of three years on 26 March 2018 
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other expiring at the end of 
the initial term of their appointment or any time thereafter. The appointments are subject to the provisions of the 
Articles with regard to vacation of office of Directors, removal and retirement by rotation of Directors.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service 
contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other than 
statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are disclosed in the section headed “Directors and 
Senior Management” on pages 12 to 14 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS
Details of the remunerations of the Directors during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 8 to the 
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent  
non-executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2019 was the Company, its 
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable the 
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other 
body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR 
CONTRACTS
There had been no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company, its holding company, 
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with the 
Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the end of the year ended 
31 March 2019.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 65.8% and sales to the Group’s largest 
customer amounted to approximately 23.5% of the total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019, respectively. 
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 86.2% and purchases from the 
Group’s largest supplier amounted to approximately 32.5% of the total purchases for the year ended 31 March 2019.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing 
Rules), nor any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors) owned more than 5% of the Company’s 
issued Shares, had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the year 
ended 31 March 2019.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related party transactions of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2019 are disclosed in note 25 to the 
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. They did not constitute connected transactions or continuing 
connected transactions, which are required to comply with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED 
SECURITIES
None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities 
during the year ended 31 March 2019.

DIVIDENDS
The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: nil).
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DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board of the Company adopted the dividend policy on 25 December 2018 as follows:

1. Goal
1.1 The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) seeks to maintain a balance between meeting 

shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend policy (the 
“Dividend Policy”).

1.2 Under the Dividend Policy, provided the Group is profitable and without affecting the normal operations 
of the Group, the Company may declare and pay dividends to the shareholders of the Company (the 
“Shareholders”).

1.3 The Dividend Policy aims to allow Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profit and for the 
Company to retain adequate reserves for future development.

2. Criteria
2.1 When proposing to declare dividends, the Board shall consider the followings, inter alia:

(a) the actual and expected financial results of the Company and the Group;

(b) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each member of the Group;

(c) dividends received from subsidiaries of the Company;

(d) the debt-to-equity ratio level, return on equity and related financial covenants of the Group;

(e) restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(f) the expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans and prospects of the 
Group;

(g) the general economic and financial conditions, business cycle of the Group and other internal or 
external factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position of 
the Company; and

(h) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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3. Procedure on declaration of dividends
3.1 The Dividend Policy and the declaration and/or payment of the dividends under the Dividend Policy in 

the future shall depend on whether the Board will continue to affirm the Dividend Policy and the 
declaration and/or payment of dividends is in the best interests of the Group and the shareholders, and 
is compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

3.2 The declaration and payment of dividends shall be approved and conducted in accordance with all 
applicable laws and regulations and the articles of association (as amended from time to time) of the 
Company.

3.3 The declaration and payment of dividends is at the sole discretion of the Board and there is no 
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

4. Review of the Dividend Policy
4.1 The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right in its sole and absolute 

discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the Dividend Policy at any time; and the Dividend 
Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company in respect of its future 
dividend and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would 
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which any member of the Group was a party and in 
which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during and at the end of the year 
ended 31 March 2019.

No contract of significance (including provision of services) between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a 
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE 
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION
As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the 
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of 
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), which were 
required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 
SFO; or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred therein; or (c) pursuant to Rule 
5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

(I) Long position in shares or underlying shares of the Company

Name of 
Directors

Number of shares or underlying shares held Percentage of 
issued share 

capital
Nature of 
interest

Ordinary 
Shares

Share 
option Total

Mr. Wu Di Interest in a 
controlled 
corporation

293,940,000 (L) – 293,940,000 73.49%

Notes:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in the Shares.

(2) The disclosed interest represents the interest in the Company held by IFG Swans Holding Ltd. (“IFG Swans”). The entire issued share 

capital of IFG Swans is wholly owned by Mr. Wu. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Wu is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by IFG 

Swans.

(II) Long position in shares or underlying shares of associated corporation

Name of 
Directors

Name of associated 
corporation Capacity

No. share(s) 
held

Percentage of 
interest

Mr. Wu Di IFG Swans Beneficial owner 1 100%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the substantial shareholders of the Company (other than 
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company) in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which 
were required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of 
Part XV of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register to 
therein, were as follows:

Name of Substantial 
Shareholder

Long/short 
position Capacity

Number of 
Shares

Percentage of 
issued share 

capital

IFG Swans Long position Beneficial owner 293,940,000 73.49%
RUAN David Ching Chi Long position Interest of a controlled 

corporation
29,116,000 7.28%

RAYS Capital Partners Limited Long position Investment manager 29,116,000 7.28%
Asian Equity Special 

Opportunities Portfolio  
Master Fund Limited

Long position Beneficial owner 28,104,000 7.03%

Note:

Mr. RUAN David Ching Chi holds 95.24% shareholding in RAYS Capital Partners Limited, which holds 100% shareholding in Asian Equity Special 

Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund Limited. Therefore, the Mr. RUAN David Ching Chi is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Asian Equity 

Special Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Directors were not aware of any other persons/entities (other 
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or 
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of 
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company 
under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26 March 2018 which 
took effect on the Listing Date. The following is a summary of the principal terms and conditions of the Share Option 
Scheme.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise the Participants (as defined below) who have 
contributed to the Group and to provide the Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the 
Company.



ZHICHENG TECHNOLOGY GROUP LTD. • ANNUAL REPORT 2019

36

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

2. Who may join
The Directors may, at their discretion, invite Directors (including non-executive Directors and independent 
non-executive Directors) and employees and any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers and agents who 
the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group (the “Participants”) 
to take up options at the subscription price.

3. Acceptance of an offer of options
An option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when 
the duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the options duly signed by the grantee, together with 
a remittance in favour of its Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof, is received by 
its Company on or before the relevant acceptance date. Such payment shall in no circumstances be 
refundable. Any offer to grant an option to subscribe for Shares may be accepted in respect of less than the 
number of Shares for which it is offered provided that it is accepted in respect of a board lot for dealing in 
Shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in the 
duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the option. To the extent that the offer to grant an option 
is not accepted by any prescribed acceptance date, it shall be deemed to have been irrevocably declined.

4. Maximum number of Shares
The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted (including Shares in respect of 
which options, whether exercised or still outstanding, have already been granted) under the Share Option 
Scheme and under any other share option schemes of its Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the 
total number of Shares in issue, being 40,000,000 Shares (the “Scheme Limit”), excluding for this purpose 
Shares which would have been issuable pursuant to options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms 
of the Share Option Scheme (or any other share option schemes of its Company).

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under 
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of its Company (including both exercised, 
outstanding options and Shares which were the subject of options which have been granted and accepted 
under the Share Option Scheme or any other scheme of its Company but subsequently cancelled (the 
“Cancelled Shares”)), to each Eligible Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not 
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant.

5. Subscription price of the Shares
The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Share Option Scheme 
shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price will not be less 
than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of 
grant, which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in 
securities;

(ii) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets 
for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share.
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6. Time of exercise of option and duration of the Share Option Scheme
An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time after the 
date upon which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of ten years from 
that date. The period during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board in its absolute 
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than ten years after it has been granted. No option may 
be granted more than ten years after the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme by the shareholders of 
its Company (the “Adoption Date”). Subject to earlier termination by its Company in general meeting or by the 
Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years from the Adoption Date.

No options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed and there were no outstanding options from the date 
of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme to 31 March 2019.

Further particulars of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the section headed “Statutory and General 
Information — 13. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
For the year ended 31 March 2019, none of the Directors or any of their respective close associates (as defined 
under the GEM Listing Rules) are engaged in any business that competes or may compete, directly or indirectly, with 
the business of the Group or have any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor are they aware of any other 
conflicts of interest which any such persons has or may have with the Group.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION
IFG Swans and Mr. Wu Di (the “Covenantors”), being the controlling shareholders (as defined under the GEM Listing 
Rules) of the Company, have entered into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company (the “Deed of Non- 
Competition”). Each of the Covenantors has undertaken under the Deed of Non-Competition not to directly or 
indirectly engage in the business which competes or may compete with the Group, on terms or conditions as 
disclosed in the Prospectus. Details of the Deed of Non-Competition have been disclosed in the section headed 
“Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition Undertaking” of the Prospectus.

Each of the Covenantors has confirmed his or its compliance with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition since 
the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2019. Meanwhile, the independent non-executive Directors were not aware of 
any non-compliance of the Deed of Non-Competition given by the Covenantors and were of the view that each of 
the Covenantors has complied with the Deed of Non-Competition.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT POLICY
The Remuneration Committee has been established for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and structure for 
all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the Group having regard to the Group’s operating 
results, individual performance and comparable market standard and practices. The Company has adopted a Share 
Option Scheme as an incentive to the Directors and eligible employees, details of which are set out in the section 
headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report.
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INTERESTS OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER
As notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, RaffAello Capital Limited (the “Compliance Adviser”), save for the 
Compliance Adviser’s agreement entered into between the Company and the Compliance Adviser dated 20 April 
2018, neither the Compliance Adviser nor its directors, employees or close associates (as defined under the GEM 
Listing Rules) had any interest in the Group or in the share capital of the Company or any member of the Group 
which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED 
TRANSACTIONS
During the report period, the Company had not entered into any connected transaction or continuing connected 
transactions which is subject to the disclosure requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance. Information on the corporate 
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 15 to 26 of 
this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company has maintained sufficient public float under the GEM Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the 
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

AUDITOR
The consol idated f inancial  statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 have been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company 
to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
No significant events have occurred since 31 March 2019.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Wu Di
Chairman, an executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 20 June 2019
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To the Shareholders of Zhicheng Technology Group Ltd.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Zhicheng Technology Group Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) set out on pages 44 to 89, which comprise:

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019;
• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the 
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit relates to impairment of trade receivables.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of trade receivables Our audit procedures in relation to management’s 
assessment on the impairment of trade receivables 
included:

We understood, evaluated and validated, on a sampling 
basis, the key controls in place over management’s 
assessment on ECL and aging analysis review of the 
trade receivables;

We obtained the documentation of management’s 
assessment on ECL of trade receivables. We discussed 
with management to understand the ECL model and 
estimates used to assess the ECL rate. We evaluated 
the management’s estimated ECL by considering the 
reputation and financial capability of the customers 
against the publicly available information, and the cash 
collection performance against the historical payment 
records. We also considered and evaluated the 
appropriateness of the impairment model adopted by 
management.

We evaluated whether management’s assessment on 
the current and forward-looking macroeconomic 
factors that impact on the ability of customers to settle 
the receivables in the future was appropriate by 
considering the external market information.

We tested, on a sampling basis, the accuracy of the 
trade receivables aging report prepared by management 
by examining related supporting documents including 
sales contracts, shipping documents, sales invoices or 
acceptance notes from customers.

We checked subsequent settlement of trade receivables 
on a sampling basis to the relevant bank receipts.

Based on the work performed, we considered 
management’s judgements made in relation to the 
impairment assessment of trade receivables were 
supported by the evidence obtained.

Refer to Note 4(b) (critical accounting estimates and 
judgements) and Note 14 (trade receivables) to the 
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2019, trade receivables amounted to 
HK$39,751,000 and no impairment of trade receivable 
is identified.

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to 
measure lifetime expected credit losses (“ECL”) 
al lowance for trade receivables. Management 
estimated the ECL rate of trade receivables individually 
by considering the market conditions, their knowledge 
about the customers (including their reputation, 
financial capability and payment history), and the 
current  and forward- look ing in format ion on 
macroeconomic factors that relevant to determine the 
ability of customers to settle the receivables in the 
future. Management also considered the aging profile 
and the subsequent settlement of each customer.

Impairment of trade receivables is considered as a key 
a u d i t  m a t t e r  t o  o u r  a u d i t  b e c a u s e  o f  t h e 
management’s judgements involved in the impairment 
assessment and the signif icance of the trade 
receivables balance to the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements.



41

ZHICHENG TECHNOLOGY GROUP LTD. • ANNUAL REPORT 2019

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the 
information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ho Chiu Yin, Ivan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 June 2019
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Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 6 52,397 48,405
Cost of sales 7 (25,127) (17,290)

    

Gross profit 27,270 31,115
Selling and marketing expenses 7 (4,470) (1,839)
Administrative expenses 7 (13,777) (37,072)
Other income 93 356
Other losses — net (37) (35)

    

Operating profit/(loss) 9,079 (7,475)
Finance income 292 3

    

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 9,371 (7,472)
Income tax expense 9 (2,060) (3,763)

    

Profit/(Loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company 7,311 (11,235)

    

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Currency translation differences (70) –

    

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (70) –
    

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 7,241 (11,235)

    

Earnings/(Losses) per share 
— Basic and diluted (HK$) 10 0.02 (0.04)

    

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March
2019 2018

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Equipment 12 172 95
Intangible assets 13 1,179 403

    

1,351 498
    

Current assets
Trade receivables 14 39,751 31,087
Amounts due from a related party – 3,734
Other receivables 15 1,581 246
Prepayments 16 16,937 17,268
Restricted cash 408 429
Cash and cash equivalents 17 9,976 1,530

    

68,653 54,294
    

Total assets 70,004 54,792
    

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 18 312 –
Other reserves 19 52,971 1,806
Retained earnings 9,411 2,955

    

Total equity 62,694 4,761
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As at 31 March
2019 2018

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade payables 20 1,546 8,307
Amounts due to a related party – 10,155
Other payables 21 3,134 31,076
Contract liabilities 22 255 –
Advances from customers – 62
Current income tax liabilities 2,375 431

    

Total liabilities 7,310 50,031
    

Total equity and liabilities 70,004 54,792
    

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

These consolidated financial statements on pages 44 to 89 were approved by the board of directors of the Company 
on 20 June 2019 and were signed on its behalf.

Wu Di Liu Zhining
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share 
capital

Other 
reserves

Retained 
earnings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note 18) (Note 19)

Balance at 1 April 2017 – 634 14,491 15,125

Comprehensive income
— Loss for the year – – (11,235) (11,235)

     

Total comprehensive income – – (11,235) (11,235)
     

Issuance of shares – 1,260 – 1,260
Deemed distributions to the then owner 

of a group company – (389) – (389)
Transfer to statutory reserve – 301 (301) –

     

Balance at 31 March 2018 – 1,806 2,955 4,761
     

Balance at 1 April 2018 – 1,806 2,955 4,761

Comprehensive income
— Profit for the year – – 7,311 7,311
— Other comprehensive income – (70) – (70)

     

Total comprehensive income – (70) 7,311 7,241
     

Capitalisation issue 234 (234) – –
Shares issued pursuant to initial public 

offering (“IPO”) 78 64,922 – 65,000
Share issuance costs – (14,308) – (14,308)
Transfer to statutory reserve – 855 (855) –

     

Balance at 31 March 2019 312 52,971 9,411 62,694
     

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash (used in)/generated from operations 23 (23,878) 6,195
Net income tax paid (116) (6,801)

    

Net cash used in operating activities (23,994) (606)
    

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of equipment (119) (41)
Purchases of intangible assets (904) (102)

    

Net cash used in investing activities (1,023) (143)
    

Cash flows from financing activities
Receipt of cash advances from a related party 3,734 23,242
Payment of cash advances to a related party (10,155) (21,076)
Distribution to the then owner of a group company – (389)
Payment for listing expenses (25,067) (3,149)
Proceeds from issuance of new shares – 1,260
Proceeds from issuance of shares during IPO 18(f) 65,000 –

    

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 33,512 (112)
    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8,495 (861)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 1,530 2,311
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash equivalents (49) 80

    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 9,976 1,530
    

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 GENERAL INFORMATION
Zhicheng Technology Group Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 23 June 2017 as 
an exempted company with limited liability. The address of its registered office is Sertus Chambers, Governors 
Square, Suite # 5-204, 23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue, P.O. Box 2547 Grand Cayman, KY1-1104 Cayman Islands.

The holding company of the Company is IFG Swans Holding Ltd. (“IFG Swans”), a company incorporated in the 
British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and 100% owned by Mr. Wu Di (“Mr. Wu”). Mr. Wu is the controlling shareholder 
(the “Controlling Shareholder”) of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision 
of smart manufacturing solutions including sales of equipment and provision of relevant technical service in 
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”) on 20 April 2018.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated, and have been 
approved for issue by the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company on 20 June 2019.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(a) Compliance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with all 
applicable HKFRS and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 
622).

(b) Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

(c) New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their annual 
reporting period commencing on 1 April 2018:

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
HK(IFRIC) 22 Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration
Annual Improvements 2014–2016 cycle Annual Improvements
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(c) New and amended standards adopted by the Group (Continued)
The Group had to change its accounting policies and make certain adjustments following the 
adoption of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15. The other amendments listed above did not have any impact 
on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current 
or future periods.

(d) New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations not yet adopted
The following new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations have been 
issued but are not yet effective for the accounting period beginning 1 April 2018 and have not been 
early adopted by the Group.

Effective for 
annual periods 

beginning on 
or after

HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
HK(IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments 1 January 2019
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment features with negative compensation 1 January 2019
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures 1 January 2019
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement 1 January 2019
Annual Improvements to 

HKFRS Standards 
2015–2017 Cycle

Improvements to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and 
HKAS 23

1 January 2019

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business 1 January 2020*
Amendments to HKAS 1 

and HKAS 8
Definition of a Material 1 January 2020

HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts 1 January 2021
Amendments to HKFRS 

10 and HKAS 28
Sale or contribution of assets between an investor 

and its associate or joint venture
To be determined

Note*: Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of 

the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The Group’s assessment of the impact about below new standard that is expected to be applicable 
to the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 16 Leases

Nature of change
HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost all leases being recognised on the 
balance sheet by lessees, as the distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. 
Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay 
rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(d) New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Impact
The Group is a lessee of certain offices and staff quarters which are currently classified as 
operating leases. The Group’s current accounting policy for such leases is to record the operating 
lease expenses in the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the current 
year with the disclosure of related operating lease commitments. HKFRS 16 provides new 
provisions for the accounting treatment of leases which no longer allows lessees to recognise 
leases outside of the consolidated statement of financial position. Instead, all non-current leases 
must be recognised in the form of assets (for the right of use) and financial liabilities (for the 
payment obligations) in the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position. Short-term 
leases of less than twelve months and leases of low-value assets are exempt from such reporting 
obligation. The new standard will therefore result in a derecognition of prepaid operating leases, 
increase in right-of-use assets and increase in lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. In the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, as a result, the annual 
operating lease expenses under otherwise identical circumstances will decrease, while 
depreciation of right-of-use of assets and interest expense arising from the lease liabilities will 
increase.

The directors consider that the adoption of the new standard will not have material impact on the 
financial position and the financial performance of the Group as the Group only holds short-term 
leases of less than twelve months in a total amount of HK$214,000 (Note 24) as at 31 March 2019, 
which can be exempted from the reporting obligation under HKFRS 16.

Date of adoption by the Group
HKFRS 16 is mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2019. At this stage, 
the Group does not intend to adopt the standard before its effective date. The Group intends to 
apply the simplified transition approach and will not restate comparative amounts for the year 
prior to first adoption.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies
This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and HKFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

(a) Impact on the financial statements
The Group applied the modified retrospective approach to adopt HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 without 
restating comparative information. The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the new 
accounting policies are therefore not reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 March 2018, but are recognised in the opening consolidated statement of financial 
position on 1 April 2018. The following table shows the adjustments recognised for each individual 
line item. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been included. The 
adjustments are explained in more detail below.

Consolidated statement of
financial position (extract)

31 March 2018
As originally

presented HKFRS 15
1 April 2018

Restated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities
Advances from customers 62 (62) –
Contract liabilities – 62 62

    

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 that relate to the recognition, classification and 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments, 
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. The adoption of HKFRS 9 by the Group 
resulted in changes in accounting policies. The new accounting policies are set out in Note 2.9.

(i) Classification and measurement
On 1 April 2018 (the date of initial application of HKFRS 9), the Group has financial assets 
mainly in the category of loans and receivables, which are measured at amortised cost. 
Accordingly, the new standard does not affect the classification and measurement of these 
financial assets. There is also no impact on the Group’s accounting for financial liabilities, as 
the new requirements only affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated at 
fair value through profit or loss and the Group does not have any such liabilities. The 
derecognition rules have been transferred from HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement and have not been changed.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets
The new impairment model requires the recognition of impairment provisions based on 
expected credit losses (“ECL”) rather than only incurred credit losses as is the case under 
HKAS 39. The Group’s financial assets which are subject to new ECL model of HKFRS 9 mainly 
include trade and other receivables.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECL which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for trade receivables. Impairment of other receivables are measured 
as either 12-month ECL or lifetime expected credit loss, depending on whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

The Group established ECL model based on historical settlement records, past experience 
and available forward-looking information. The Group has reviewed its financial assets and 
has not identified any significant impact as at 1 April 2018 from the adoption of ECL model.

(c) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers from 1 April 2018 
which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements. In accordance with the transition provisions in HKFRS 15, comparative 
figures have not been restated.

The Group has assessed its performance obligations under its arrangements pursuant to HKFRS 15 
and has concluded that there are no significant difference between the performance obligations 
required to be units of account under HKFRS 15 and deliverables considered to be units of account 
under HKAS 18 and the consideration is allocated to its performance obligations based on the 
relative fair value of each deliverables both under HKFRS 15 and HKAS 18.

Based on the Group’s assessment, there was no material impact to the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group upon the adoption of HKFRS 15. The new accounting policies are set out 
in Note 2.17 below.

The effects of the adoption of HKFRS 15 is as below:

Presentation of contract liabilities
Amounts received from customers in advance which were previously presented as advances from 
customers are reclassified as contract liabilities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the 
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control 
ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as 
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment 
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative 
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling 
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity 
attributable to owners of the Group.

2.4 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker (“CODM”), who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments. The CODM has been identified as the executive directors that 
make strategic decisions.

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 
currency”). The consolidated financial statements is presented in HK$, which is the Company’s 
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to cash and cash equivalents are presented in the 
income statement within “finance income” or “finance costs”. All other foreign exchange gains and 
losses are presented in the income statement within “other gains/(losses) — net”.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of the group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

• assets and liabilities for each financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at 
the date of that financial position;

• income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at 
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the 
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and 
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.6 Equipment
Equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the any component 
accounted for as a separated asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in 
which they are incurred.

Depreciation on equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Furniture and office equipment 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and 
are recognised within consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Intangible assets

Software and patents
Separately acquired computer software and patents are shown at historical cost. The computer software 
and patents have a finite useful life and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over its estimated useful 
lives.

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that 
suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.9 Financial assets

(a) Classification
From 1 April 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement 
categories:

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive 
income, or through profit or loss), and

• those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and 
the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other 
comprehensive income. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this 
will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial 
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive 
income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing 
those assets changes.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(b) Recognition and measurement
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date, the date on 
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when 
the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and 
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

(c) Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 
financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for 
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Trade and other receivables that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash 
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest 
income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate 
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and 
presented in other gains/(losses) (if any), together with foreign exchange gains and losses. 
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the income statement.

(d) Impairment of financial assets
From 1 April 2018, the Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses 
associated with its financial assets carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied 
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which 
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see 
Note 14 for further details. For other receivables, the Group applies either 12-month ECL or lifetime 
expected losses method, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition.
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2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(e) Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2018
The Group has applied HKFRS 9, but has elected not to restate comparative information. As a 
result, the comparative information provided continues to be accounted for in accordance with the 
Group’s previous accounting policy.

• Classification
The Group currently only has financial assets in the category of loans and receivables which 
are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. If collection of the amounts is expected in one year or less they are 
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. The Group’s 
loans and receivables comprise of “trade receivables”, “other receivables” and “cash and 
cash equivalents” in the consolidated statement of financial position (Notes 14, 15 and 17).

• Recognition and measurement
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date — the 
date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially 
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial assets are derecognised when the 
rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and 
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Loans and 
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

• Impairment
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is 
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, 
and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults.
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2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(e) Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2018 (Continued)

• Impairment (Continued)
For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s 
fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such 
as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised 
impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.11 Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the 
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less 
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, 
they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. See Note 2.9 for 
further information about the Group’s accounting for trade receivables and the Group’s impairment 
policies.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits 
held at call with banks. Bank deposits which are restricted to use are included in “restricted cash”. 
Restricted cash are excluding from cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of 
cash flows.

2.13 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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2.14 Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due 
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are 
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

2.15 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries 
operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It 
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax 
authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the 
initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the 
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is 
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.



61

ZHICHENG TECHNOLOGY GROUP LTD. • ANNUAL REPORT 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Outside basis differences
Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from 
investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising from 
investments in subsidiaries only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference will 
reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the temporary 
difference can be utilised.

(c) Offsetting
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable 
entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.16 Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations
In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group 
participate in defined contribution retirement benefit plans organised by the relevant municipal 
and provincial governments in the PRC under which the Group and the PRC based employees are 
required to make monthly contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage of the 
employees’ salaries, subject to certain ceiling.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations 
of all existing and future retired PRC based employees payable under the plans described above. 
Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the payment of 
retirement and other post-retirement benefits of its employees. The Group’s contributions to these 
plans are expensed as incurred.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join the Mandatory Provident Fund 
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee. 
Under the MPF Scheme, the group company in Hong Kong (the employer) and its employees make 
monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the 
Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The monthly contributions of each of the group company 
and its employees are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and thereafter contributions are voluntary.
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2.16 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b) Housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances
Employees of the group companies in the PRC are entitled to participate in various government-
supervised housing funds, medical insurance and other employee social insurance plan. The Group 
contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based on certain percentages of the salaries of the 
employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability in respect of these funds is limited to the 
contributions payable in each period. Contributions to these funds are expensed of as incurred.

(c) Bonus entitlements
The expected cost of bonus payments are recognised as a liability when the Group has a present 
contractual or constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable 
estimate of the obligation can be made.

2.17 Revenue recognition
Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the asset is transferred to the customer. Revenue is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue 
are net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group 
recognises revenue when specific criterias have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as 
described below.

(a) Sales of goods
Sales of goods are recognised when control of the products has been transferred to the customers 
and the collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

(b) Rendering of services
The Group provided technical services to external parties. Service fee is recognised as revenue 
when services are rendered.

2.18 Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

2.19 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the 
Group as lessee are classified as operating leases.

The Group is the lessee
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor), are charged to 
the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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2.20 Research and development
Research expenditures are recognised as expenses or cost of sales as incurred. Costs incurred on 
development projects (relating to the design and developing of new or improved utility models and utility 
patents) are recognised as intangible assets if, and only if, the Group can demonstrate all of the 
following:

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

• its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

• its ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development 
and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

• its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as expenses or cost of 
sales when incurred. Development costs previously recognised as expenses or cost of sales are not 
recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

2.21 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders or 
directors, where appropriate.

2.22 Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance 
that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
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3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and 
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management 
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the Group’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by the financial 
department under policies approved by the Board.

3.1.1 Market risk

(a) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or 
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

The PRC entity of the Group operates in the PRC with most of the transactions denominated 
and settled in RMB, which is the functional currency of PRC entity. Therefore, the PRC entity 
do not exposed to material foreign exchange risk.

For the operating entities that are incorporated in Hong Kong and BVI, their functional 
currencies are United States dollars (“US$”). As certain trade and other receivables, bank 
balances, trade and other payables of the overseas entities are denominated in HK$ or Euro 
(“EUR”), currencies other than the functional currencies of the entities may cause the foreign 
exchange risk. Under the Linked Exchange Rate System in Hong Kong, HK$ is pegged to US$, 
the directors consider that there is no significant foreign exchange risk with respect to HK$. 
Therefore, the foreign exchange mainly arises from the monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in EUR.

The Group has not entered into forward exchange contract to hedge its exposure to foreign 
exchange risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities denominated in EUR at 
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

As at 31 March 2019 HK$’000

Monetary assets
— Cash and cash equivalents 15

  

Monetary liabilities
— Trade payables (407)
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.1 Market risk (Continued)

(a) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2018 HK$’000

Monetary assets
— Cash and cash equivalents 8

  

Monetary liabilities
— Trade payables (1,896)

  

As at 31 March 2019, if EUR had weakened/strengthened by 8% against US$ with all other 
variables held constant, profit before income tax for the year would have increased/
decreased by HK$31,000 (2018: if EUR had weakened/strengthened by 8% against US$ with 
all other variables held constant, loss before income tax for the year would have decreased/
increased by HK$151,000).

(b) Cash flow interest rate risk
The Group’s interest-bearing assets are mainly cash and cash equivalents. The directors 
consider the interest rate risk with respect to cash and cash equivalents to be insignificant to 
the Group.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate 
risks.

3.1.2 Credit risk
Credit risk mainly arises from cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade receivables and 
other receivables. The carrying amount of these balances in the consolidated statement of 
financial position represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial 
assets. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to these credit risks are 
monitored on an ongoing basis.

Majority of the Group’s bank balances are placed in banks incorporated in the PRC which are 
reputable listed commercial banks or state-owned bank and listed banks incorporated in Hong 
Kong. Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these banks and 
financial institutions as they have no default history in the past.

In respect of trade receivables and other receivables, periodical credit evaluations are performed 
taking into account the customers’ financial position, past experience and other factors. The Group 
generally requires customers to settle progress billings in accordance with contracted terms and 
other debts in accordance with agreements. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from 
customers.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.3 Liquidity risk
To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate 
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group expects to fund its future cash flow needs 
through internally generated cash flows from operation and borrowings from financial institutions.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity 
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances 
due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Less than 1 year
HK$’000

As at 31 March 2019
Trade and other payables (excluding accrual for staff costs and  

other tax payables) 3,315
  

As at 31 March 2018
Trade and other payables (excluding accrual for staff costs and  

other tax payables) 37,821
Amounts due to a related party 10,155

  

47,976
  

3.2 Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value in the long term.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 
to the owner, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

No gearing ratio is presented as the Group has net cash surplus as at 31 March 2019 (2018: same).

3.3 Fair value estimation
The Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are mainly receivables and payables, respectively, 
which are carried at amortised cost. The fair values of these financial instruments approximate their 
carrying amount due to their short maturities.
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Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below:

(a) Revenue recognition
The Group generates revenue principally through the sales of equipment and provision of technical 
supporting services in relation to the equipment. Management considered that revenue recognition is 
critical for these consolidated financial statements because operating profit or loss may be significantly 
affected by the timing of revenue recognition and how the contract sum was allocated to sales of 
equipment and provision of technical services.

Generally, the Group recognises revenue of sales of equipment when the control of products has been 
transferred to the customers. Technical services comprised mainly technical support, guidance for 
installation of the equipment and training, which are recognised when the services have been rendered 
and accepted by customers.

Allocation of contract sum to sales of equipment and provision of technical services is based on their fair 
value. Determining the fair value of each part of revenue requires management’s estimation.

(b) Impairment of receivables
The Group records impairment of receivables based on an assessment made by management on the 
expected credit losses of trade and other receivables. Impairment assessment requires the use of 
judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference 
will impact both the carrying value of trade and other receivables and the impairment charge in the 
period in which such estimate has been changed.

(c) Income taxes and deferred taxation
The Group is subject to income taxes in the PRC. Judgement is required in determining the provision for 
income taxes in each of these jurisdictions. There are transactions and calculations during the ordinary 
course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of 
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and tax losses are recognised 
when management considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. When the expectation is different from the original 
estimate, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred income tax assets and taxation 
charges in the period in which such estimate is changed.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION
Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the executive 
directors, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segment.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision smart manufacturing solutions of precision testing and 
precision machining, which comprises the sales of precision testing equipment and precision machining 
equipment as well as the provision of technical services. Management reviews the operating results of the 
business as one segment to make decisions about resources to be allocated. Therefore, the executive 
directors of the company regards that there is only one segment which is used to make strategic decisions. 
Revenue and profit before income tax are the measure reported to the executive directors for the purpose of 
resources allocation and performance assessment.

All of the Group’s revenue is derived in the PRC during the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: same).

6 REVENUE
Revenue by nature:

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Precision 3D testing solutions:
— Sales of equipment 42,149 45,367
— Technical services 7,568 3,038

   

49,717 48,405
   

Precision machining solutions:
— Sales of equipment 2,581 –
— Technical services 99 –

   

2,680 –
   

52,397 48,405
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6 REVENUE (Continued)
Revenue by type of solutions:

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Precision 3D testing solutions:
— Static 3D scanning 45,070 29,446
— Dynamic 3D scanning 4,647 18,959

   

49,717 48,405
   

Precision machining solutions 2,680 –
   

52,397 48,405
   

Revenues from transactions with external customers amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenues are 
as follows:

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A 12,333 Not applicable*
Customer B 7,969 Not applicable*
Customer C Not applicable* 15,704
Customer D Not applicable* 7,840

   

Note*: The revenue of the particular customer for the particular year is less than 10% of the Group’s revenue for the particular year.
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7 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of goods sold 23,519 15,898
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) (Note 8) 5,222 2,789
Travelling expenses 3,997 1,977
Outsourcing research and development expenses 3,221 672
Professional Fees 2,783 4,761
Entertainment expenses 1,582 559
Auditors’ remuneration 1,057 1,050
Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 12 and 13) 138 78
Listing expenses – 26,081
Other expenses 1,855 2,336

   

Total cost of sales, selling and marketing expenses and  
administrative expenses 43,374 56,201

   

8 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, wages, bonuses and other benefits 4,821 2,575
Contribution to pension scheme 401 214

   

5,222 2,789
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(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
The remuneration of each director and chief executive for the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out 
below:

Name Fees

Salaries,
wages,

bonuses and
other benefits

Contribution
to pension

scheme Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors
Mr. Wu (i) 31 187 21 239
Ms. Liu Zhining 18 229 22 269

Independent non-
executive directors

Mr. Tang Yong 183 – – 183
Mr. Xing Shaonan 183 – – 183
Mr. Tan Michael Zhen Shan 183 – – 183

     

598 416 43 1,057
     

The remuneration of each director and chief executive for the year ended 31 March 2018 is set out 
below:

Name Fees

Salaries,
wages,

bonuses and
other benefits

Contribution
to pension

scheme Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors
Mr. Wu (i) – 146 18 164
Ms. Liu Zhining – 145 16 161

Independent non-
executive directors

Mr. Tang Yong 3 – – 3
Mr. Xing Shaonan 3 – – 3
Mr. Tan Michael Zhen Shan 3 – – 3

     

9 291 34 334
     

(i) Mr. Wu is the chief executive officer of the Company.
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(b) Five highest paid individuals
For the year ended 31 March 2019, the five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group 
included two directors whose emoluments is reflected in the analysis presented above (2018: two). The 
emoluments paid to the remaining individuals during the year are as follows:

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, wages, bonuses and other benefits 1,023 795
Contribution to pension scheme 93 71

   

1,116 866
   

The emoluments of these remaining individuals of the Group fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals
2019 2018

Emolument bands
Below HK$1,000,000 3 3

   

(c) Benefits and interests of directors
For the year ended 31 March 2019, no retirement benefits, payments or benefits in respect of 
termination of directors’ services were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any 
payable (2018: same). No consideration was provided to or receivable by third parties for making 
available directors’ services. There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors, 
their controlled bodies corporate and connected entities (2018: same).

No directors of the Company and their connected entities had a material interest, directly or indirectly, in 
any significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Company’s business to which 
the Company was or is a party that subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 March 2019 or at any time 
during the reported year (2018: same).
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9 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current income tax
— PRC corporate income tax 2,060 1,970
— Others – 1,652
Deferred income tax – 141

   

2,060 3,763
   

No income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income was charged for the year ended 31 
March 2019 (2018: same).

The tax on the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 
income tax rate applicable to profit/(loss) of the consolidated entities as follows:

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 9,371 (7,472)
   

Tax calculated at tax rates applicable to profit in the respective  
tax jurisdictions (a, b) 2,099 2,070

Provision in respect of the exposure to Hong Kong profits tax (c) – 1,652
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 100 41
Additional deduction on research and develop expenses (139) –

   

2,060 3,763
   

(a) Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “CIT Law”) and the Implementation Rules of the 
CIT Law in the PRC, the standard tax rate is 25% for the Group’s subsidiaries and operations in the PRC.

On 11 December 2017, Quick Tech Corporation Ltd. (“Quick Tech”), the Group’s subsidiary incorporated in 
the PRC, was awarded the High and New Technology Enterprise which effective for three years 
commencing on 1 January 2017 and is entitled to preferential income tax rate of 15% for these three years.

(b) Hong Kong Cheng Phong Technology Limited (“Hong Kong Cheng Phong”), Bow Chak Industry (HK) 
Limited (“Bow Chak”) and MGW Swans Ltd. (“MGW Swans”) are the Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in 
Hong Kong and BVI. However, their principal businesses for the year ended 31 March 2019 were carried 
out in the PRC (2018: same) and the related income was subject to PRC corporate income tax. Hong 
Kong Cheng Phong, Bow Chak and MGW Swans were approved by the PRC in-charge tax bureau to pay 
PRC income tax on a “deemed profit basis”, according to which their taxable income was calculated at 
15% of revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: same).
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9 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
(c) The statutory Hong Kong profits tax rate is 16.5%.

Hong Kong Cheng Phong and Bow Chak are Hong Kong incorporated companies and are obligated to file 
their profits tax returns to Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department. In their tax filing for years before 2016, 
Hong Kong Cheng Phong and Bow Chak have reported their income as onshore sourced and taxable under 
Hong Kong profits tax and paid Hong Kong profits tax though they have also paid the PRC corporate 
income tax as mentioned in Note (b) above. After reviewing the companies’ operations, Hong Kong Cheng 
Phong and Bow Chak have reported their income for year 2017 as offshore sourced and not subject to 
Hong Kong profits tax and will continue to report their income derived during this year as offshore sourced. 
However, the offshore claim is yet subject to review and agreement of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue 
Department and cannot be ascertained at the date of these consolidated financial statements. Thus, Hong 
Kong Cheng Phong and Bow Chak true up their income tax provision according to 16.5% profits tax rate in 
Hong Kong. For the year ended 31 March 2019, Hong Kong Cheng Phong and Bow Chak recorded losses in 
their financial statements and therefore were not subject to Hong Kong profits tax.

(d) The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under 
the Companies Law of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

The Company’s subsidiaries in BVI were incorporated under the International Business Companies Act of 
the British Virgin Islands and are exempted from BVI income tax.

10 EARNINGS/(LOSSES) PER SHARE
Basic earnings/(losses) per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) for the year by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. Capitalisation issue of 299,900,000 shares to the then 
shareholders of the Company as of 26 March 2018 has been taking into account in determining the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares.

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

Profit/(Loss) for the year (HK$’000) 7,311 (11,235)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  

in issue (number of shares) 394,795,000 297,584,000
   

Basic earnings/(losses) per share (HK$) 0.02 (0.04)
   

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share presented is the same as the basic earnings/(losses) per share as there 
were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: same).

11 DIVIDENDS
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: nil).

12 EQUIPMENT
The Group’s equipment mainly included furniture and office equipment. For the year ended 31 March 2019, 
depreciation of the equipment of HK$36,000 (2018: HK$18,000) has been charged to administrative expenses.
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13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Patent Software Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2017
Cost 319 20 339
Accumulated amortisation (10) (3) (13)

    

Net book amount 309 17 326
    

Year ended 31 March 2018
Opening net book amount 309 17 326
Additions — 102 102
Currency translation differences 33 2 35
Amortisation charge (47) (13) (60)

    

Closing net book amount 295 108 403
    

At 31 March 2018
Cost 353 124 477
Accumulated amortisation (58) (16) (74)

    

Net book amount 295 108 403
    

Year ended 31 March 2019
Opening net book amount 295 108 403
Additions — 904 904
Currency translation differences (20) (6) (26)
Amortisation charge (32) (70) (102)

    

Closing net book amount 243 936 1,179
    

At 31 March 2019
Cost 330 1,020 1,350
Accumulated amortisation (87) (84) (171)

    

Net book amount 243 936 1,179
    

For the year ended 31 March 2019, amortisation of HK$102,000 (2018: HK$60,000) has been charged to 
administrative expenses.
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14 TRADE RECEIVABLES

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 39,062 31,087
Notes receivable (c) 689 –

   

39,751 31,087
   

(a) Aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 27,860 27,902
1 to 6 months 8,395 –
6 months to 1 year 2,807 1,171
1 to 2 years – 2,014

   

39,062 31,087
   

As at 31 March 2019, trade receivables of HK$9,762,000 (2018: HK$3,185,000) were overdue. These 
amounts related to a number of independent customers for whom there was no significant financial 
difficulty and based on management’s assessment, the overdue amounts could be recovered.

(b) Trade receivables were denominated in:

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

— US$ 22,795 26,878
— RMB 16,267 4,209

   

39,062 31,087
   

(c) As at 31 March 2019, notes receivable of the Group was bank acceptance note, with due period of 6 
months.

(d) The fair value of trade and notes receivable approximated to its carrying amounts as at 31 March 2019 
due to their short maturities (2018: same).
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15 OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Advances to employees 1,305 95
Deposits and others 276 151

   

1,581 246
   

(a) Other receivables were denominated in:

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

— RMB 1,546 206
— US$ 35 40

   

1,581 246
   

(b) The fair value of other receivables approximated to their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2019 due to 
their short maturities (2018: same).

16 PREPAYMENTS

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments to suppliers 12,995 2,960
Prepaid outsourcing research and development expenses 3,942 –
Incurred listing expenses to be capitalised after the Listing – 14,308

   

16,937 17,268
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17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at banks and on hand were denominated in:
— RMB 5,266 1,072
— US$ 2,531 422
— HK$ 2,164 28
— EUR 15 8

   

9,976 1,530
   

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign 
currencies denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation of 
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

18 SHARE CAPITAL

Note

Number of
ordinary

shares Share capital Share capital
US$ HK$

Authorised:
Ordinary share of US$0.0001 each at  

23 June 2017 (date of incorporation) (a) 500,000,000 50,000 390,500
Increase in authorised share capital (a) 4,500,000,000 450,000 3,514,500

     

At 31 March 2018 and 2019 5,000,000,000 500,000 3,905,000
     

Issued and fully paid:
At 23 June 2017 (date of incorporation) (a) 1 – –
Issue shares to IFG Swans (b) 97,980 10 78
Issue shares to Ms. Ching (c) 19 – –
Issue shares to an independent investor (d) 2,000 – –

     

As 31 March 2018 100,000 10 78
     

At 1 April 2018 100,000 10 78
Capitalisation issue (e) 299,900,000 29,990 234,222
Shares issued pursuant to IPO (f) 100,000,000 10,000 78,100

     

At 31 March 2019 400,000,000 40,000 312,400
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18 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
(a) On 23 June 2017, the Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with an authorised share capital 

of 500,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.0001 each. Upon the incorporation of the Company, one 
subscriber share was allotted and issued to its parent company, IFG Swans, which is wholly owned by 
the controlling shareholder. On 26 March 2018, the authorised shares were increased to 5,000,000,000 
ordinary shares of US$0.0001 each.

(b) On 25 August 2017, the Company issued 97,950 Shares as fully paid to IFG Swans and on 18 September 
2017, the Company further issued 30 shares to IFG Swans for the acquisitions of Hong Kong Cheng 
Phong, Bow Chak and MGW Swans, pursuant to the Reorganisation.

(c) In August 2017, the company effectively acquired 97% and 3% equity interest in Quick Tech from Mr Wu 
and Ms. Ching Li Wen (an independent third party) respectively. The cash consideration paid for the 97% 
interest amounted to RMB331,200 and the 3% equity interest of RMB10,200 was satisfied by the issuance 
of 19 shares of the Company.

(d) On 26 August 2017, Professor Yang Zhuoru, an independent third party, subscribed for 2,000 shares 
newly issued by the Company at cash consideration of approximately HK$1,260,120.

(e) Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholders passed on 26 March 2018, 299,900,000 shares of 
US$0.0001 each of the Company were allotted and issued at par to the then shareholders of the 
Company in proportion to their respective shareholdings as of 26 March 2018. The allotment and 
issuance were made by capitalisation of the sum of HK$234,222 standing to the credit of the share 
premium account of the Company following the placing and public offer of the Company’s shares on 20 
April 2018.

(f) The Company’s shares were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 20 April 2018, by way of placing 
and public offering at a total of 100,000,000 shares at an offer price of HK$0.65 per share.
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19 OTHER RESERVES

Share
premium

Capital
reserves

Statutory
reserves

Exchange
reserves Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 April 2017 – 552 – 82 634

Issuance of shares (Note 18(d)) 1,260 – – – 1,260
Deemed distributions to the then 

owner of a group company – (389) – – (389)
Transfer to statutory reserve – – 301 – 301

      

Balance at 31 March 2018 1,260 163 301 82 1,806
      

Balance at 1 April 2018 1,260 163 301 82 1,806

Other comprehensive income – – – (70) (70)
Capitalisation issue (Note 18(e)) (234) – – – (234)
Shares issued pursuant to IPO  

(Note 18(f)) 64,922 – – – 64,922
Share issuance costs (14,308) – – – (14,308)
Transfer to statutory reserve – – 855 – 855

      

Balance at 31 March 2019 51,640 163 1,156 12 52,971
      

(a) Capital reserves
Capital reserves included 1) the recapitalisation reserves representing the combined capital of the 
Operating Companies amounting to HK$552,000; and 2) the deemed distribution to the Controlling 
Shareholder representing the cash consideration of HK$389,000 (equivalent to RMB331,200) paid to Mr. 
Wu for acquisition of the 97% equity interest of Quick Tech during the Reorganisation (Note 18(c)).

(b) Statutory reserves
In accordance with relevant rules and regulations in the PRC, all the PRC companies that operated 
exclusively with foreign capitals are required to transfer an amount of not less than 10% of profit after 
taxation calculated under PRC accounting standards and regulations to the reserve fund, until the 
accumulated total of the fund reaches 50% of their registered capital. The statutory reserve fund can 
only be used, upon approval by the relevant authority, to offset previous years’ losses or to increase the 
capital of respective companies. The appropriation to the enterprise expansion fund is solely determined 
by the board of directors of the PRC companies. The enterprise expansion fund can only be used to 
increase capital of the respective companies or to expand their production operations upon approval by 
the relevant authority.
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20 TRADE PAYABLES

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 1,546 8,307
   

(a) Aging analysis of the trade payables were as follows:

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 849 7,227
1 to 6 months 575 399
6 months to 1 year 21 –
1 to 2 years 20 141
2–3 years – 540
Over 3 years 81 –

   

1,546 8,307
   

(b) Trade payables were denominated in:

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

— US$ 1,115 5,056
— EUR 407 1,896
— RMB 24 1,355

   

1,546 8,307
   

(c) The fair value of trade payables approximated to their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2019 due to their 
short maturities (2018: same).
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21 OTHER PAYABLES

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accrued expenses 1,769 2,647
Payroll payables 920 576
Other tax liabilities 445 986
Accrued listing expenses – 26,867

   

3,134 31,076
   

(a) Other payables were denominated in:

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

— HK$ 1,334 25,455
— RMB 1,800 5,275
— US$ – 346

   

3,134 31,076
   

(b) The fair value of other payables approximated to their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2019 due to their 
short maturities (2018: same).

22 CONTRACT LIABILITIES
Contract liabilities represent cash received from customers in advance for which the goods and services are 
yet to be delivered.
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23 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Cash (used in)/generated from operations
Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before income tax to net cash (used in)/generated from operations is as 
follows:

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 9,371 (7,472)
Adjustments for:
— Depreciation of equipment (Note 12) 36 18
— Amortisation (Note 13) 102 60
— Other losses/(income) 81 (509)

   

9,590 (7,903)
   

Changes in working capital
— Trade receivables (8,664) (7,576)
— Prepayments (13,977) (1,853)
— Other receivables (1,335) 898
— Trade payables (6,761) 6,125
— Contract liabilities and other payables (2,752) 16,464
— Restricted cash 21 40

   

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (23,878) 6,195
   

(b) Net debt reconciliation
The following section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the 
years presented.

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 9,976 1,530
Amounts due from a related party – 3,734
Amounts due to a related party – (10,155)

   

Net debt 9,976 (4,891)
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23 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Net debt reconciliation (Continued)

Other assets

Liabilities
from

financing
activities Total

   

Cash

Amounts due
from a

related party

Amounts due
to a

related party
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Net debt as at 1 April 2017 2,311 – (4,644) (2,333)

Cash flows (861) 3,734 (5,511) (2,638)
Foreign exchange adjustments 80 – – 80

     

Net debt as at 31 March 2018 1,530 3,734 (10,155) (4,891)

Cash flows 8,495 (3,734) 10,155 14,916
Foreign exchange adjustments (49) – – (49)

     

Net debt as at 31 March 2019 9,976 – – 9,976
     

24 COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following non-cancellable operating lease commitments:

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

No later than 1 year 214 289
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25 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Name and relationship with a related party

Name Relationship

Mr. Wu Controlling shareholder

(b) Key management compensation

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, wages, bonuses and other benefits 1,254 864
Contribution to pension scheme 111 86

   

Total 1,365 950
   

(c) Balances with a related party
Balances of the Group with a related party are disclosed as below:

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts due from a related party (i):
— Mr. Wu – 3,734

   

Amounts due to a related party (i):
— Mr. Wu – 10,155

   

(i) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free, receivable/repayable on demand and non-trade in nature.
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26 SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Name of company

Place of
incorporation,
kind of
legal entity
and date of
incorporation

Particulars
of issued 

share
capital/

registered
capital

Equity
interest

held

Principal activities 
and place of 
operation

Directly held

CPT Asia-Pacific Holding Ltd. BVI,
limited liability 
company,
18 August 2017

US$1 100% Investment holding, 
BVI

BCI East Asia Holding Ltd. BVI,
limited liability 
company,
18 August 2017

US$1 100% Investment holding, 
BVI

MG Pacific Holding Ltd. BVI,
limited liability 
company,
18 August 2017

US$1 100% Investment holding, 
BVI

ZHP Orient Holding Ltd. BVI,
limited liability 
company,
14 July 2017

US$1 100% Investment holding, 
BVI

Indirectly held

Hong Kong Zhi Phong Hong Kong,
limited liability 
company,
27 July 2017

HK$1 100% Investment holding, 
Hong Kong

Hong Kong Cheng Phong Hong Kong,
limited liability 
company,
20 January 2010

HK$100 100% Provision of smart 
manufacturing 
solutions, including 
sales of equipment 
and provision of 
technical services, 
the PRC
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26 SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Name of company

Place of
incorporation,
kind of
legal entity
and date of
incorporation

Particulars
of issued 

share
capital/

registered
capital

Equity
interest

held

Principal activities 
and place of 
operation

Bow Chak Hong Kong,
limited liability 
company,
13 February 2014

HK$100 100% Provision of smart 
manufacturing 
solutions, including 
sales of equipment 
and provision of 
technical services, 
the PRC

MGW Swans BVI,
limited liability 
company,
27 December 2012

US$100 100% Provision of smart 
manufacturing 
solutions, including 
sales of equipment 
and provision of 
technical services, 
the PRC

Quick Tech The PRC,
limited liability 
company,
3 April 2008

RMB
10,750,000

(a)

100% Provision of smart 
manufacturing 
solutions, including 
sales of equipment 
and provision of 
technical services, 
the PRC

(a) During the year, the registered capital and paid-in capital of Quick Tech was increased to RMB10,750,000.
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27 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries 31,118 19,143

   

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,481 –
Amounts due from subsidiaries 13,200 1,260
Prepayments 99 14,308

   

14,780 15,568
   

Total assets 45,898 34,711
   

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 312 –
Other reserves (a) 70,783 20,403
Accumulated losses (28,268) (26,206)

   

Total equity 42,827 (5,803)
   

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,758 13,522
Other payables 1,313 26,992

   

Total liabilities 3,071 40,514
   

Total equity and liabilities 45,898 34,711
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27 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Reserve movement of the Company

Other
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 April 2017
Issuance of shares to acquire shares of certain 

group companies during the Reorganisation 19,143 – 19,143
Issuance of shares (Note 18 (d)) 1,260 – 1,260
Loss for the year – (26,206) (26,206)

    

Balance at 31 March 2018 20,403 (26,206) (5,803)
    

Balance at 1 April 2018 20,403 (26,206) (5,803)
Capitalisation issue (Note 18 (e)) (234) – (234)
Share issued pursuant to IPO (Note 18 (f)) 64,922 – 64,922
Share issuance costs (14,308) – (14,308)
Loss for the year – (2,062) (2,062)

    

Balance at 31 March 2019 70,783 (28,268) 42,515
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A summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2016, 2017,2018 and 2019 and 
the consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2016, 2017,2018 and 2019, as extracted from the 
Group’s audited consolidated financial statements contained in this annual report and the Prospectus is set out 
below:

Year ended 31 March
2016 2017 2018 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 25,963 43,492 48,405 52,397

Gross profit 9,698 25,715 31,115 27,270

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 4,984 19,446 (7,472) 9,371

Profit/(Loss) for the year 3,622 17,259 (11,235) 7,311

Gross profit margin 37.4% 59.1% 64.3% 52.0%
     

Net profit/(loss) margin 14.0% 39.7% (23.2%) 14.0%
     

As at 31 March
2016 2017 2018 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 12,251 29,076 54,792 70,004

Total liabilities (14,395) (13,951) (50,031) (7,310)

Net assets (2,144) 15,125 4,761 62,694

Total equity (2,144) 15,125 4,761 62,694

Current ratio 84.7% 204.6% 108.5% 939.2%

Quick ratio 84.7% 204.6% 108.5% 939.2%
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